1978

State of Utah v. David Edward Albo : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The appellant, DAVID EDWARD ALBO, appeals from a conviction of Unlawful Distribution of a Controlled Substance for Value in the Third Judicial District in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable James S. Sawaya, presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant, DAVID EDWARD ALBO, was charged with Unlawful Distribution of a Controlled Substance for Value in violation of Utah Code Ann. §58-37-8(a) (1953 as amended). On the 17th day of June, 1977, the appellant was found guilty of the offense as charged by a jury. Subsequently, the appellant was sentenced to incarceration in the Utah State Prison for the indeterminate term of zero to ten years.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the conviction and judgment rendered below and a remand of the case to the Third Judicial District Court for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the afternoon of April 27, 1977, Kayle Shaw, Jr. contacted Gayle Lee Boone, appellant's co-defendant, and arranged to meet with him later in that day at an establishment called "The Gym" (T. 21). At that time, Shaw was working as an undercover agent for the Utah State Liquor and Narcotics Enforcement Division (T. 170). Several months earlier Shaw had been released from the Salt Lake County Jail where he was being held pending trial on three counts of Aggravated Robbery, felonies of the first degree, and another felony charge of Unlawful Possession of a Controlled Substance with Intent to Distribute for Value (T. 20). At the time of this action Shaw was still awaiting trial on those charges (T. 20).

Upon being released from jail Shaw reported to Tom Carleson of the Bountiful City Police Department (T. 80). Carleson then introduced Shaw to agents of the State Liquor and Narcotics Control Division (T. 81) and then put him to work as an undercover agent (T. 17). At that time Shaw told the State agents that he "wanted to bust Gayle Boone" (T. 82).

After contacting Boone on April 22, 1977, Shaw contacted the State Narcotics Division where he talked to Tom Carleson (T. 26). Shaw then proceeded to the Division's office at the Fairgrounds where

he was searched (T. 26) and supplied with one thousand dollars worth of twenty dollar bills (T. 27). An electronic device was then attached to Shaw's body (T. 32). The device transmitted sounds originating in the immediate area to police radios (T. 33-34).

Shaw then drove his own car to "The Gym", but he was followed there by twelve other agents driving another six cars (T. 174). Shaw contacted Boone at "The Gym" (T. 34). Shaw then testified that some time later a transaction took place in which he exchanged the thousand dollars for a package containing a brown substance (T. 54). When the officers listening to their radios heard a prearranged signal from Shaw they arrested Shaw, the appellant and the co-defendant, Boone.

The appellant testified that Boone had phoned the appellant earlier that evening and told the appellant that he was ready to repay an old debt (T. 406-408). The appellant testified further that he was to meet Boone at "The Gym" where he could collect the money (T. 408). When Boone entered the appellant's car and began to count out the money owed to the appellant the arrest took place (T. 413).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED PREJUDICIAL ERROR
BY ALLOWING THE JURY TO DETERMINE THE ADMISSIBILITY
OF HEARSAY STATEMENTS WHEN THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT
EVIDENCE TO ALLOW THEIR ADMISSION UNDER RULE 63(9)
OF THE UTAH RULES OF EVIDENCE.

The appellant moved to suppress a recording of a conversation between Gayle Lee Boone and the State's informant, Kayle Shaw, Jr. (R. 54). The motion was denied and the tape was received into

evidence (T. 333). The tape was made by recording a broadcast of the conversation transmitted by an electronic device secreted on the informant's person (T. 32). The broadcast was heard by some police officers who had followed and were observing Shaw, although there was some question about what they heard.

Kayle Shaw, Jr., the key witness for the prosecution, testified about a conversation with the appellant's co-defendant, Gay Lee Boone. In the course of this conversation Boone made a number of statements that tended to incriminate the appellant. The appellant registered a continuing objection to these statements (T. 22) on the basis of hearsay because they were offered for the truth of the matter asserted. The State attempted to have the statements made admissible pursuant to Utah Rule of Evidence 63(9) under the theory that the co-defendant, Boone, and the appellant were engaged in a plan to commit a crime.

The hearsay statements which Boone made to Shaw that tended to incriminate the appellant included: Boone's statement that "his man hasn't arrived yet" (T. 35). "He [the man delivering the drugs] should be here in twenty minutes" (T. 36). "He [the same man] should be comin' any time" (T. 37). Shaw also testified that Boone said that "his man" would be driving a "white Continental" and when such a car pulled into the parking lot Shaw testified that he asked Boone if that was "his man" and Boone replied "Yeah" (T. 47). On cross-examination Shaw testified that when he arrived at "The Gym" Boone told him "my boy hasn't arrived" (T. 94) and after Shaw left to eat then return Boone stated that "he hasn't arrived yet" (T. 97). Shaw testified further that Boone had told him that Boone's friend in a white

Continental did arrive Boone instructed Shaw to wait inside (T. 103). In addition to this testimony, a tape recording of the conversation between Boone and Shaw was admitted into evidence and the jury was allowed to hear all of that conversation. All this evidence was hearsay as to the appellant. At trial, Boone refused to take the stand so the appellant was unable to confront him about these statements.

The only other evidence to connect the appellant with a plan to commit a crime is the fact that he drove into the parking lot at "The Gym" and parked his car (T. 186), and that when the arrest was made the appellant and Boone were in the car with the money that Shaw had given Boone (T. 188). The appellant took the stand and testified that Boone owed him one thousand two hundred dollars (T. 412). He also testified that Boone had called him earlier that day to tell the appellant that he had his money and to come and pick it up at "The Gym" (T. 408). Upon arriving at "The Gym" the appellant testified that Boone approached the car and asked the appellant to wait for a few minutes and when Boone returned with the money and began to count it out in the appellant's car, both Boone and the appellant were arrested (T. 412-413). The appellant stated that he was not Boone's delivery boy (T. 414).

The trial court did not make a finding that the hearsay evidence was admissible against the appellant. The court proceeded to instruct the jury that if they found that there was a plan to commit a crime on the basis of evidence independent of the hearsay, then they

1

may use Boone's hearsay statements against the appellant (R. 85). By stipulation of counsel, and with the permission of the court the appellant was allowed to take exception to this instruction at the time for sentencing (T. July 8, 1977, p.2).

The State contended that these hearsay statements were vicarious admissions pursuant to Rule 63(9) of the Utah Rules of Evidence. That rule provides:

Vicarious Admissions. As against a party, a statement which would be admissible if made by the declarant at the hearing if (a) the judge finds the declarant is unavailable as a witness and that the statement concerned a matter within the scope of an agency or employment of the declarant for the party and was made before the termination of such relationship, or (b) the party and the declarant were participating in a plan to commit a crime or a civil wrong and the statement was relevant to the plan or its subject matter and was made while the plan was in existence and before its complete execution or other termination, or (c) one of the issues between the party and the proponent of the evidence of the statement is a legal liability of the declarant, and the statement tends to establish that liability;

The note following Rule 63(7) ² of the Utah Rules of Evidence expresses covers Rule 63(9) and makes the case of State v. Erwin, 101 Utah 365,

1. During the course of this trial the Court has received testimony and evidence of conversations between the defendant Gayle Lee Boone and Kayle Shaw Jr. aka Mike Days with the admonition from the Court that such testimony is not to be considered as evidence against the co-defendant David Edward Albo. Under the rules of evidence of the State of Utah, such testimony and evidence is hearsay unless there has been evidence presented which proves to your satisfaction, and beyond a reasonable doubt, that the declarant, Gayle Lee Boone, and the co-defendant David Edward Albo, were participating in a plan to commit a crime and the statement was relevant to the plan or its subject matter and was made while the plan was in existence and before its complete execution or other termination. If you so find, you may consider any and all statements made by the defendant Boone to Kayle Shaw aka Mike Days as substantive evidence against the defendant Albo (R. 85).

2. This and exceptions (8) and (9) cover the admissibility of admissions by a party or by those by whose statements he is bound. Since "statement" includes non-verbal conduct, the decision in State v. Erwin, 101 Utah 365, 120 P.2d 285, would be particularly applicable.

10 P.2d 285 (1941), applicable to these hearsay exceptions. In that
case the court held that if hearsay is to be admissible against one
who would be a co-planner of a crime under Rule 63(9) the plan must
be established independent of statements. The court stated:

While the declarations of an agent or a conspirator
may be used against his principal or co-conspirator,
when that relationship is established by proper
evidence, agency by reason of being a co-conspirator
cannot be proved by the declarations of the agent.
[citations omitted] 120 P.2d at 310.

The primary reason for requiring this proof independent of the statement
as given in State v. Erwin, supra,

[I]t would be begging the question to admit the
declarations of the agent because he is the agent
of his principal, and then prove that he was in fact
the agent of his principal because he so stated in
his declaration. 12 P.2d at 298.

This was put in a slightly different way in Glasser v. United States,
35 U.S. 60, 86 L.Ed. 680, 62 S.Ct. 457 (1941),

However, such declarations are admissible over the
objection of an alleged co-conspirator, who was not
present when they were made, only if there is proof
aliunde that he is connected with the conspiracy.
[citations omitted] Otherwise, hearsay would
lift itself by its own boot straps to the level of
competent evidence. 315 U.S. at 74-75.

Since this is a determination of admissibility of evidence
it must be made by the trial judge. This requirement is provided in
Rule 8 of the Utah Rules of Evidence:

When the qualification of a person to be a witness,
or the admissibility of evidence, or the existence
of a privilege is stated in these rules to be subject
to a condition, and the fulfillment of the condition
is in issue, the issue is to be determined by the
judge, and he shall indicate to the parties which
one has the burden of producing evidence and the
burden of proof on such issue as implied by the rule
under which the question arises. The judge may hear
and determine such matters out of the presence or

hearing of the jury, except that on the admissibility of a confession the judge, if requested, shall hear and determine the question out of the presence and hearing of the jury. But this rule shall not be construed to limit the right of a party to introduce before the jury evidence relevant to weight or credibility.

The failure of the trial court to make this determination as required in the Rules of Evidence obviously was error. However, to make matters worse the trial court compounded the error by instructing the jury that they were to determine the admissibility of the evidence. This very issue was dealt with by the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit in the case of Carbo v. United States, 314 F.2d 718 (9th Cir. 1963). In that case the court held that it is the province of the judge to determine the admissibility of the evidence. The reason for this is that such an instruction would require that the jury find the defendant guilty before considering the evidence.

In an analogous situation the United States Supreme Court held that it is improper to have a jury determine the voluntariness of a defendant's confession and then determine the guilt or innocence of that defendant. Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, (1964). The court found that such a procedure violated the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. The major reasons that the court gave for such a holding were that: First of all, if a jury is to determine the voluntariness of a confession it will be impossible to tell if they found that the confession was voluntary or involuntary on the record, thus precluding appellate review of a defendant's substantial constitutional right.

3. See footnote 2, *supra*.

secondly, the court reasoned that it would be highly possible for a jury to confuse the issues of voluntariness and truthfulness, resulting in the refusal to reject an involuntary confession, which was truthful, thus resulting in a violation of the defendant's Fourteenth Amendment rights. Another analogous case is Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123 (1968). There the Supreme Court held that if the trial court denied a motion to sever and a witness was allowed to testify about statements the co-defendant made and when that co-defendant did not testify, then the defendant's rights under the confrontation clause of the Sixth Amendment were denied. The court noted that even though the jury was admonished to disregard the statements as to defendant Bruton,

The fact of the matter is that too often such admonition against misuse is intrinsically ineffective in that the effect of such a nonadmissible declaration cannot be wiped from the brains of the jurors. The admonition therefore becomes a futile collocation of words and fails of its purpose as a legal protection to defendants against whom such a declaration should not tell. . .

The government should not have the windfall of having the jury be influenced by evidence against defendant which, as a matter of law, they should not consider but which they cannot put out of their minds. 391 U.S. at 129 quoting Delli Paoli v. United States, 352 U.S. 232 (1957). Frankfurter J. dissenting.

With these considerations in mind - the possibility that a jury will be confused by refusing to disregard what they may decide to be truthful statements, and their inability to not consider such statements should they choose to find the statements inadmissible - this instruction was erroneous.

These errors were prejudicial, mandating a reversal of the judgment below. This is because the hearsay statements were

inadmissible against the appellant and in all likelihood the statements were used as evidence against the appellant. All the evidence which could prove a plan to commit a crime which is independent of the hearsay statements is outlined above. The most damaging of this evidence is Boone being in the appellant's car giving him the money. The appellant testified that Boone was repaying a previous debt, absent the hearsay statements this evidence goes unrefuted. Even if the jury chose to disregard the appellant's testimony, the fact that the two men were in the car with the money makes the State's contention that they were dividing the gains of a drug sale nothing more than mere suspicion. "Evidence which creates a mere suspicion of guilt as not enough. Guilt may not be inferred from mere association", Glover v. United States, 306 F.2d 594 (10th Cir., 1962). Similarly, in White v. State, 451 S.W. 2d 497 (Tex. 1970), the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals held that the evidence was insufficient to make a prima facie showing of possession of narcotic paraphernalia. The evidence, independent of the co-defendant's hearsay statement was that White had thrown two capsules of heroin on the roof when he saw the police approach his apartment, and when the paraphernalia for which he was charged with possessing was removed from a bathroom he shared and was displayed to White, he stated "That's my stuff". Such evidence is much more inculpatory than two men being present in a car with money after a narcotics sale. This is because there was an admission of ownership and the paraphernalia was in an area within the defendant's control. Even if the evidence of the two in the car with the money is taken in conjunction with the evidence that the appellant drove into the parking lot shortly before the transaction, it is not sufficient to establish that there was a plan to commit a crime. This is because mere association, United States v.

Oliva, 497 F.2d 130 (5th Cir., 1974) or presence, People v. Braly, 532 F.2d 325 (Colo., 1975) is insufficient to establish a prima facie case. In United States v. Oliva, supra, there was evidence that the defendant had followed a co-conspirator into a parking lot of an apartment shortly before a drug sale took place, waited while the transaction took place, and attempted to drive away when he realized the co-conspirator was being arrested. This was held to be insufficient to establish the prima facie showing required for the admission of the co-conspirator's statements against the defendant. In People v. Braly, supra, agents observed the defendant enter a house where a drug sale was set up. The agents inside the house were told to wait in another room at the same time when there was a knock on the door. That knock corresponded to the defendant's entering the house as observed by the agents outside. The co-defendant then produced some narcotics to sample for the agents who were in the house. This evidence was held to be insufficient to establish the prima facie showing required for the admission of the co-defendant's statements against the defendant. The evidence in the case at hand is analogous to the evidence in those cases just described. The appellant was in the area but nobody saw any drugs passed between Boone and the appellant. Kayle Shaw never spoke with the appellant, in fact he did not even know the appellant's name (T. 121), and finally, the agents never saw Boone approach the appellant's car until the arrest was made.

Therefore, there was not even a prima facie showing that the appellant had formed a plan to commit a crime. Absent this showing the evidence was inadmissible as to the appellant. It was error for the court to allow the jury to consider this evidence against the

appellant in any way, let alone in the erroneous way in which the court instructed the jury. The hearsay statements were the most damaging evidence that the State had against the appellant. As shown above, without these statements the State could not even make a prima facie showing that there was a plan to distribute narcotics for value. There is a high probability that without this evidence the jury's verdict would have been different, State v. Simmons, 573 P.2d 341 (Utah, 1977). The errors were prejudicial, the case must be reversed and remanded to the Third District Court for a new trial.

POINT II

THE APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT UNDER THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE WAS DENIED WHEN THE TRIAL COURT ALLOWED THE JURY TO DETERMINE THE ADMISSIBILITY OF THE CO-DEFENDANT'S HEARSAY STATEMENTS AFTER THE COURT HAD DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SEVER THE TRIALS.

Appellant, who was tried jointly with Gayle Lee Boone, filed a pre-trial motion to sever based on the Confrontation Clause of Article I, Section 12 of the Constitution of Utah and the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution as that clause is interpreted in Bruton v. United States, supra. The motion was denied (R. 48).

The facts relevant here are that Kayle Shaw, Jr. testified that the co-defendant Boone made statements that implicated the appellant. The most crucial of these statements were that the person who would be delivering the narcotics would be driving a "white Continental" and when such a car pulled into the lot the co-defendant identified the appellant for Shaw (T. 47). The appellant registered a continuing objection to the admission of these statements (T. 22). The court did not make any

determination on the admissibility of these statements, rather that issue was left to the jury (R. 85).

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