1978

State of Utah v. David Edward Albo : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

UNDER RULE 63(9) OF THE UTAH RULES OF EVIDENCE THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE THE TESTIMONY OF KAYLE SHAW AND THE TAPE RECORDING OF THE CONVERSATION BETWEEN SHAW AND CO-DEFENDANT GAYLE BOONE.

During the trial, narcotics agent Kayle Shaw was allowed to testify about a conversation he had with Gayle Boone, in which Boone made a number of statements that incriminated appellant. A tape recording of that conversation was also admitted. When appellant objected to admission of the evidence against him, claiming it was barred as hearsay, the court admonished the jury that at that time the evidence was admissible only against co-defendant Boone (T.22).

Subsequently independent evidence was admitted which established against Boone and appellant a prima facie case of conspiracy to distribute a controlled substance. That evidence consisted of the arrival of appellant at the location of the drug sale (T.47), the approach of Boone, empty-handed to appellant's car, the return to the gym of Gayle Boone, clutching a plastic bag containing a brown substance, later proven to be PCP (T.308), and the subsequent entry of Boone into appellant's car where police interrupted him counting out several hundred dollars to appellant, who

put the money in his pocket as police officers ordered him from the vehicle (T.187,192). This substantial amount of independent evidence provided the basis for a finding by the jury that beyond a reasonable doubt a conspiracy to distribute a controlled substance existed between appellant and Boone. Once that conspiracy was established, the jury could use under Rule 63(9)¹ of the Utah Rules of Evidence and current case law (see infra) Boone's incriminating statements made in furtherance of the conspiracy against appellant as evidence to determine appellant's guilt on the underlying substantive charge of distribution of a controlled substance for value.

State v. Erwin, 101 Utah 365, 120 P.2d 285 (1941), requires that a conspiracy be proved by independent acts. The statement of a person that he is the agent of another will not suffice. Respondent submits that in the instant case these requirements were met and that the trial court properly

¹ RULE 63. HEARSAY EVIDENCE EXCLUDED--EXCEPTIONS
Evidence of a statement which is made other than by a witness while testifying at the hearing offered to prove the truth of the matter stated is hearsay evidence and inadmissible except:

(9) Vicarious Admissions. As against a party, a statement which would be admissible if made by the declarant at the hearing if (a) the judge finds the declarant is unavailable as a witness and that the statement concerned a matter within the scope of an agency or employment of the declarant for the party and was made before the termination of such relationship, or (b) the party and the declarant were participating in a plan to commit a crime or a civil wrong and the statement was relevant to the plan or its subject matter and was made while the plan was in existence and before its complete execution or other termination, or (c) one of the issues between the party and the proponent of the evidence of the statement is a legal liability of the declarant, and the statement tends to establish that liability.

submitted the evidence to the jury. Appellant complains that the trial court made no preliminary determination on the admissibility of the co-conspirator's testimony, although Rule 8 of the Utah Rules of Evidence² and Carbo v. United States, 314 F.2d 718 (9th Cir. 1963) require that the court preliminarily decide if a prima facie case of conspiracy has been made and submit the evidence to the jury only after so finding.

In the case at bar appellant never asked the court for a specific finding on the conspiracy issue³. Although the

² RULE 8. PRELIMINARY INQUIRY BY JUDGE

When the qualification of a person to be a witness, or the admissibility of evidence, or the existence of a privilege is stated in these rules to be subject to a condition, and the fulfillment of the condition is in issue, the issue is to be determined by the judge, and he shall indicate to the parties which one has the burden of producing evidence and the burden of proof on such issue as implied by the rule under which the question arises. The judge may hear and determine such matters out of the presence or hearing of the jury, except that on the admissibility of a confession the judge, if requested, shall hear and determine the question out of the presence and hearing of the jury. But this rule shall not be construed to limit the right of a party to introduce before the jury evidence relevant to weight or credibility.

³ Respondent has observed that appellant filed no objection to any jury instruction until after the jury had returned its verdict and the day of sentencing had arrived (T.490, 5.2). Objections to jury instructions must be made before the instructions are given to the jury. As this court said in State v. Cowan 26 U.2d 410, 490 P.2d 890 (1971):

"Rule 51 U.R.C.P. (applicable in criminal proceedings unless otherwise provided) requires that absent a contrary stipulation by the parties, all instructions given a jury must be in writing, and that objections to such written instructions must be made before the instructions are given to the jury." (Emphasis added)

Although the trial court allowed appellant to timely make his objections at sentencing (S.2), the record does not indicate that the state ever stipulated to such procedural irregularity.

trial court made no specific oral finding, an analysis of the transcript shows conclusively that the court was mindful of the requirements of law and of its duty to look for a prima facie case of conspiracy before admitting the incriminating evidence.

The trial proceedings included the following admonishment by the court after appellant had objected to the hearsay:

"The record may show a continuing objection of the defendant Albo through Mr. Brown to the testimony of this witness relating a conversation had between himself and the defendant Boone and I would admonish the jury that that testimony at least at this time should not be considered in your case or your deliberations as against the defendant Albo." (T.22).

This cautionary instruction indicates that the court was alert to the requirements of Erwin, supra, and the giving of Jury Instruction No. 16⁴ demonstrated that by the close of

⁴ During the course of this trial the Court has received testimony and evidence of conversations between the defendant Gayle Lee Boone and Kayle Shaw, Jr., aka Mike Days with the admonition from the Court that such testimony is not to be considered as evidence against the co-defendant David Edward Albo. Under the rules of evidence of the State of Utah, such testimony and evidence is hearsay unless there has been evidence presented which proves to your satisfaction, and beyond a reasonable doubt, that the declarant, Gayle Lee Boone, and the co-defendant, David Edward Albo, were participating in a plan to commit a crime and the statement was relevant to the plan or its subject matter and was made while the plan was in existence and before its complete execution or other termination. If you so find, you may consider any and all statements made by the defendant Boone to Kayle Shaw aka Mike Days as substantive evidence against the defendant Albo (R.85).

trial the court had been satisfied that if the state's evidence were believed a prima facie case of conspiracy had been established and that the jury would be entrusted with the evidence to make their independent determination of whether a conspiracy had been established beyond a reasonable doubt, based on evidence other than Kayle Shaw's testimony and the tape recording. Only if the jury so found could statements made by co-defendant Boone to Shaw be considered as substantive evidence against appellant.

Although the question of conditional admissibility is for the trial judge to determine, there is no error in conditionally admitting the statements before a prima facie case was established by independent evidence if subsequently such a case is proven, because the trial judge has wide discretion over the order of proof. In South-East Coal Co. v. Consolidation Coal Co., 434 F.2d 767 (6th Cir. 1970), Consolidation objected to the admission of hearsay statements until a prima facie conspiracy case had been proven. The Court of Appeals found that at the close of the plaintiff's case there had been established by independent or disassociated evidence a prima facie case and that, therefore, the requirement for having conditionally admitted the statements was met.

Respondent submits that the trial court accurately interpreted the requirements, Rule 63(9), of Erwin and Carbo,

supra, the latter also observing:

"It is well-established that the declarations of one conspirator in furtherance of the objects of the conspiracy, made to a third party, are admissible against his co-conspirators." At 735)

Since the statements of co-defendant Boone concerning the expected arrival of his drug delivery man were made in furtherance of the conspiracy, the evidence was fully admissible.

Bruton v. United States, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476 (1968), is relied upon by appellant to demonstrate that the challenged evidence was improperly admitted. Bruton concerned a confession of co-defendant Evans to a postal inspector, who testified that Evans admitted to him that he and Bruton had committed armed postal robbery. Evans did not testify and his conviction was reversed on appeal because the confession had been involuntary. The United States Supreme Court reversed Bruton's conviction, holding that the introduction of Evans' confession violated Bruton's Sixth Amendment right of cross-examination, and that the limiting instruction of the court cautioning the jury that the confession was competent evidence only against Evans was insufficient to remove any prejudice to Bruton.

"A jury cannot 'segregate evidence into intellectual boxes'. . . It cannot determine that a confession is true insofar as it admits that A has committed criminal acts with B and at the same time effectively

ignore the inevitable conclusion that B has committed those same criminal acts with A." 20 L.Ed.2d at 482, quoting Justice Traynor in People v. Aranda, 63 Cal.2d 518, 528-529, 407 P.2d 265, 271-272.

The case at bar does not concern a confession and Bruton is, therefore, inapplicable. However, the United States Supreme Court did consider a matter similar to the present case in Dutton v. Evans, 400 U.S. 74, 27 L.Ed.2d 213 (1970), where the trial court had admitted the testimony of a prosecution witness that an alleged accomplice of the defendant had told the witness, who was a fellow prisoner, that if it had not been for the defendant, "we wouldn't be in this now." The alleged accomplice did not testify at trial. The Court reversed the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals which had found Georgia's hearsay exception too broad and remanded the case to the Circuit Court for consideration of other issues. In its plurality opinion, the Court listed several factors which it had considered in finding that defendant Evans was not denied his right of confrontation.

" . . . Third, the possibility that Williams' statement was founded on faulty recollection is remote in the extreme. Fourth, the circumstances under which Williams made the statement were such as to give reason to suppose that Williams did not misrepresent Evans' involvement in the crime. These reasons go beyond a showing that Williams had no

apparent reason to lie to Shaw. His statement was spontaneous, and it was against his penal interest to make it. These are indicia of reliability which have been widely viewed as determinative of whether a statement may be placed before the jury though there is no confrontation of the declarant." (Emphasis added.) 27 L.Ed.2d at 227

These observations are highly relevant in the instant case where the tape recording of Boone's spontaneous comments, made in anticipation of the drug transaction and against Boone's penal interest, insure high reliability and give additional support for Shaw's recollection of the conversation. (The reliability is further enhanced by Boone's ignorance of Shaw's status as undercover narcotics agent for the probability is that had he known that Shaw was a monitored agent, he would have made no statements which incriminated either himself or appellant.) Once the conspiracy was established, the jury was clearly entitled to consider this relevant, reliable evidence.

Jackson v. Dunno, 37 U.S. 368, 12 L.Ed.2d 908 (1964), also relied upon by appellant, is inapplicable to the case at bar. Jackson concerns the prejudice which arises when a jury determines both the voluntariness and the truthfulness of a defendant's confession. This court is not faced with a confession and the special procedural safeguards which have attached to confessions have never been extended to the

admissions of co-conspirators. The constitutional protections afforded a person who is beaten until he confesses to a crime are significantly greater than those of a co-conspirator who makes incriminating statements while pursuing the criminal objective of the conspiracy, Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), Dutton v. Evans, supra, and California v. Green, infra.

In Point II of his brief, appellant attempts to use Jackson, supra, and Bruton, supra, to support his claim of denial of the right of confrontation. However, he has neglected an important footnote in Bruton. Footnote 3 at 20 L.Ed. 481 states:

"There is not before us, therefore, any recognized exception to the hearsay rule insofar as petitioner is concerned and we intimate no view whatever that such exceptions necessarily raise questions under the Confrontation Clause."

The focal point of the instant case is the validity of evidence offered under the well-recognized hearsay exception of a co-conspirator's admissions made in furtherance of the conspiracy. Respondent asserts that under current law no confrontation problem arises. Appellant correctly reports that the Confrontation Clause has been made obligatory on the states by the Sixth Amendment through the Fourteenth Amendment. But as the Court in Dutton, supra, added: ". . .that is no more than the beginning of our inquiry." 27 L.Ed.2d at 221.

"It is not argued, nor could it be that the constitutional right to confrontation requires that no hearsay evidence can ever be introduced. In the Pointer case itself, we referred to the decisions of this Court that have approved the admission of hearsay." Id. at 222.

After remarking that such hearsay as dying declarations and testimony of a deceased witness at a former trial are admissible, the Court considered the Georgia statute at issue. Ga. Code Ann. § 38-306 (1954) provides:

"After the fact of conspiracy shall be proved, the declarations by any one of the conspirators during the pendency of the criminal project shall be admissible against all."

State courts had interpreted this statute to allow hearsay testimony of statements made by the defendants during the concealment phase of the conspiracy.

The Dutton court acknowledged that federal courts have declined to extend the hearsay exception to include out-of-court statements made during the concealment phase but held the Georgia statute and interpretation constitutional despite petitioner's claim of lack of confrontation.

"While it may readily be conceded that hearsay rules and the Confrontation Clause are generally designed to protect similar values, it is quite a different thing to suggest that the overlap is complete and that the Confrontation Clause is nothing more or less than a codification of the rules of hearsay and their exceptions as they existed historically at

common law. Our decisions have never established such a congruence. . . ." Id. at 223.

In Dutton, petitioner Evans exercised his right to confrontation on the factual question of whether Shaw had actually heard Williams make the statement Shaw related; and the court commented that the several indicia of reliability made "the possibility that cross-examination of Williams could conceivably have shown the jury that the statement, though made, might have been unreliable was wholly unreal." Id. at 227.

Respondent submits that on this point Dutton is analogous to the instant case because the corroborating tape recording and independent verifying acts made it wholly unlikely that any cross-examination of Boone could have shown that his own statements, though made to Shaw, were unreliable.

The court in Dutton ultimately declared that

"decisions of this court make it clear that the mission of the Confrontation Clause is to advance a practical concern for the accuracy of the truth-determining process in criminal trials by assuring that 'the trier of fact [has] a satisfactory basis for evaluating the truth of the prior statement.' California v. Green, 399 U.S. 149, 161, 26 L.Ed.2d 489, 498 (1970)." 27 L.Ed.2d at 227.

Respondent asserts that the admission of evidence

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